
  

Special Magistrate Hearing  Agenda Page 1 

CODE ENFORCEMENT 
SPECIAL MAGISTRATE HEARING 

 

MONDAY             TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
August 25, 2025 - 9:30 AM         4300 S. ATLANTIC AVE., PONCE INLET, FL 

 
SUNSHINE LAW NOTICE: – Notice is hereby provided that one or more members of the Town 
Council or other Town Boards may attend and speak at this meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER. 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 A.  July 28, 2025 
 
3. ADMINISTERING THE OATH TO WITNESSES. 
 
4. OLD BUSINESS:  

A. Case # 2025-682 
Ocean Support Inc.  
c/o John Hinton 
4950 South Peninsula Drive 
Alleged Violation: Work performed requiring permits  

 
5.  NEW BUSINESS:  

A.     Case # 2025-1741 
Brandi Swick  
4746 South Peninsula Drive  
Alleged Violation: Property maintenance issue involving lot and/or dwelling  
 

6. ADJOURNMENT. 
Next hearing date: Monday, September 22, 2025 

 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the Special Magistrate with respect to any matter 
considered at a hearing, he/she will need a record of the proceedings and that for such purpose, he/she 
may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony 
and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. Persons who require accommodation to attend this 
hearing should contact the Clerk’s office at 386-236-2150 by 4:00 pm at least 48 hours in advance of the 
meeting to request such assistance. 



Report to Code Enforcement Board 

Topic: July 28, 2025 Hearing Minutes 

Summary:   

Staff has prepared the attached set of hearing minutes for the 
Magistrates’s review and approval. 

Suggested motion: 

To approve the attached set of hearing minutes As Presented - OR - As 
Amended 

Requested by: 

Ms. Stewart, Assistant Deputy Clerk 

Approved by: 

Mr. Disher, Town Manager 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Agenda Item:   2-A 



  

Code Magistrate Hearing Minutes July 28, 2025 Page 1 of 3 

Town of Ponce Inlet 
Code Enforcement Special Magistrate  

Meeting Minutes 
July 28, 2025 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m. in the Council Chambers, 4300 1 
S. Atlantic Avenue, Ponce Inlet, Florida.  2 
 3 

Staff Members Present: 4 
  Mr. Baker, Chief Building Official   5 
  Mr. Hooker, Code Compliance Manager 6 
  Ms. Hornbuckle, Code Administrative Assistant 7 
  Attorney Smith, Town Attorney 8 
  Ms. Stewart, Assistant Deputy Clerk 9 
  Special Magistrate Velo 10 
 11 
2. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 12 
 13 

A. June 23, 2025 - Special Magistrate Velo approved the June 23, 2025, meeting minutes as 14 
presented. 15 

 16 
3. ADMINISTERING THE OATH TO WITNESSES: Assistant Deputy Clerk Stewart 17 
administered the Oath to those intending to provide testimony. 18 
 19 
4. OLD BUSINESS: 20 
 21 

A. Case # 2025-682 22 
Ocean Support Inc. 23 
c/o Charles J. Schammel 24 
4950 South Peninsula Drive 25 
Alleged Violation: Worked performed requiring permits 26 

 27 
Mr. Hooker explained that this case was heard on June 23, 2025, for unpermitted work, and the property 28 
was found in violation. The owners were given until July 7, 2025, to apply for the necessary permits. An 29 
updated survey was required which delayed the process, but a permit application was submitted on July 30 
25, 2025, and is currently under review. The $250 administrative fee has been paid. Staff requests the case 31 
be continued to the August 25, 2025 hearing to allow time for staff permit review and for the issue to be 32 
resolved. Special Magistrate Velo confirmed staff had spoken with the owner, although no one appeared 33 
on the owner’s behalf. 34 
 35 
Special Magistrate Velo continued this case to the August 25, 2025, hearing.  36 
 37 

B. Case # 2025-1482 38 
Helen Hill 39 
72 Seawinds Circle 40 
Alleged Violation: Right of way maintenance 41 
 42 

Mr. Hooker reported that this case was heard on June 23, 2025 for right-of-way maintenance violations, 43 
where the property was found in violation of the cited sections of code. At that meeting, the owners  44 



  

Code Magistrate Hearing Minutes July 28, 2025 Page 2 of 3 

committed to achieving compliance by today’s hearing and paid the $250 administrative fee. A July 24, 45 
2025, inspection confirmed the rock was removed and sod installed to stabilize the area. The property is 46 
now in full compliance, and staff recommends issuance of an Order of Compliance and case dismissal. 47 
The owners were not present at today’s hearing, and no one spoke on their behalf. 48 
 49 
Special Magistrate Velo found the property in compliance and dismissed the case.  50 
 51 
5. NEW BUSINESS: 52 
 53 

A. Case # 2025-1679 54 
Aisha Moore 55 
4734 South Atlantic Avenue 56 
Alleged Violation: Property maintenance issue involving dwelling 57 
(REPEAT VIOLATION) 58 
 59 

Mr. Hooker stated this is a repeat violation and presented testimony and photos of the cited code sections. 60 
This case originated on March 27, 2023, due to multiple property maintenance violations. Between then 61 
and March 25, 2024, six hearings were held. A permit was issued for repairs, and a 180-day permit 62 
extension was granted on January 6, 2025. However, the permit was canceled on June 15, 2025 by the 63 
contractor, and no work has been completed. Under Florida Statutes, the Town is not required to allow 64 
additional time for compliance. A certified notice was sent, the property posted, and the violation notice 65 
was emailed and received. The property is listed for sale, and Ms. Moore is present. 66 
 67 
Mr. Hooker noted that initial efforts to address the violations in March 2023 included removing the 68 
decking around the home, clearing overgrown vegetation, and pressure washing. While Ms. Moore 69 
patched roof damage from recent hurricanes, full repairs remain incomplete. He outlined the remaining 70 
violations and invited Ms. Moore to speak. Ms. Moore stated that she resolved the immediate safety issues 71 
and received confirmation of compliance on those items. She had planned to renovate the home but then 72 
became the legal guardian of four children, which impacted her finances. Since 2024, she has actively 73 
tried to sell the property; three contracts fell through during inspections. She currently has a ratified 74 
contract that was scheduled to close on July 16, 2025, but the buyer requested that the building permit be 75 
cancelled because it is not transferable to him. After her contractor submitted the cancellation request, she 76 
received the current violation notice. The closing was extended to August 11, 2025. Ms. Moore added that 77 
exterior stairs and decking were removed, and the non-structural first-floor ceiling was taken down at the 78 
engineer’s request. She reiterated her intent to sell and introduced the buyer, Mr. William LaFevor, who 79 
was sworn in by Ms. Stewart. 80 
 81 
Mr. William LaFevor, of Windermere, FL, stated he intends to purchase and fully renovate the property 82 
to meet current standards. However, the title company believes a lien exists, delaying the closing, and his 83 
lender will not proceed.  Mr. Hooker clarified that there is no lien, only a $250 administrative fee, which 84 
was paid and a satisfaction was sent for recording. Attorney Smith added that while the original Findings 85 
of Fact were recorded, there is no lien, only a notice of code violation. Mr. LaFevor noted the title company 86 
still considers it a lien. Special Magistrate Velo asked if the violations were new; Attorney Smith explained 87 
the 2023 case was closed after a permit was issued, but its recent cancellation prompted a new case due 88 
to incomplete repairs. A five-minute recess was requested to confer based on Mr. LaFevor’s testimony. 89 
 90 

----RECESS---- 91 
 92 

Attorney Smith asked Mr. LaFevor how much time he would need to complete the renovations. Mr. 93 
LaFevor responded he would require eight months. Acknowledging Ms. Moore’s challenges, Attorney 94 
Smith stated the Town supports the property’s transfer and seeks an Order of Compliance, with the buyer 95 



  

Code Magistrate Hearing Minutes July 28, 2025 Page 3 of 3 

aware of the code status. Mr. LaFevor confirmed this property would take priority despite owning adjacent 96 
lots and agreed to complete exterior repairs before interior work. The Town proposed 180 days for exterior 97 
repairs and 12 months for interior renovations, including permit time, and is not seeking fines. When asked 98 
if these deadlines depend on the sale, Attorney Smith confirmed they should be conditional and requested 99 
a 60-day status update. 100 
 101 
Special Magistrate Velo found the property in non-compliance; granted 180 days to bring the exterior of 102 
the property in compliance; granted 12 months for interior repairs to be made and the case to be brought 103 
back for a status update at the October 27, 2025, hearing.  104 

 105 
6.   ADJOURNMENT: The hearing was adjourned at 10:07 a.m. 106 
 107 
Next hearing date: Monday, August 25, 2025 108 
 109 
Respectfully submitted by, 110 
 111 
Draft    112 
Stephanie Velo 113 
 114 
Prepared by: Debbie Stewart, Assistant Deputy Clerk 115 



 
 

 
 

Report to Code Enforcement Special Magistrate  
 
Topic: Case #2025-682 
  Ocean Support, Inc. 
  c/o John Hinton 
  4950 South Peninsula Drive 
 Alleged Violation(s): Work performed requiring permits 

 
Summary: Staff will provide testimony and evidence regarding the 
following case.  

 
Suggested motion: To be determined by the Magistrate after testimony 
and evidence has been provided on the case. 

 
Requested by: 
 

Mr. Hooker, Code Compliance Manager 

 
Approved by: 
 

Mr. Disher, Town Manager 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Agenda Item:   4-A 



4-A











Report to Code Enforcement Special Magistrate 

Topic: Case #2025-1741 
Brandi Swick 
4746 South Peninsula Drive 
Alleged Violation(s): Property maintenance issue involving 
lot and/or dwelling 

Summary:  Staff will provide testimony and evidence regarding the 
following case.  

Suggested motion: To be determined by the Magistrate after testimony 
and evidence has been provided on the case. 

Requested by: 

Mr. Hooker, Code Compliance Manager 

Approved by: 

Mr. Disher, Town Manager 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Agenda Item:   5-A 



5-A












	A  8-25-2025 CE Agenda
	CODE ENFORCEMENT
	SPECIAL MAGISTRATE HEARING

	B  2-A Cover
	C  2-A  07-28-2025 CE Minutes
	D  4-A Cover
	E  4-A
	F  5-A Cover
	G  5-A



